FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/20/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 9/19/2023 3:41 PM

### COURT OF APPEALS NO. 83187-9-I SUPREME COURT NO. <u>102402-9</u>

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

٧.

NATHAN SCOTT SMITH,

Respondent.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

JASON J. CUMMINGS Prosecuting Attorney

MATTHEW R. PITTMAN Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Petitioner

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

###

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION1
III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1
IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A. VENIREPERSON 27'S JURY QUESTIONNAIRE, INDIVIDUALIZED QUESTIONING, AND DEFENSE MOTION TO EXCUSE FOR CAUSE
B. GROUP QUESTIONING, INTERACTION WITH VP27, AND NO ADDITIONAL CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE 11
C. JURY INSTRUCTION, JURY VERDICT, AND POLLING OF VP27 AS TO HER INDIVIDUAL VERDICT 
D. APPEAL AND PUBLISHED DECISION15
V. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 17
VI. ARGUMENT18
A. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT MANIFESTLY ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN FAILING TO REMOVE VP27 IN LIGHT OF HER ACTUAL STATEMENTS
VII. CONCLUSION

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### WASHINGTON CASES

Hamilton v. Snyder, 182 Wn. 688, 48 P.2d 245 (1935)19 State v. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn.2d, 798, 425 P.3d
798 (2018) 17, 22
<u>State v. Gonzales</u> , 111 Wn. App. 276, 45 P.3d 205 (2022)
<u>State v. Irby</u> , 187 Wn. App. 183, 347 P.3d 1103 (2015)
<u>State V. Irby</u> , 167 WII. App. 165, 547 F.50 1105 (2015)
<u>State v. Noltie</u> , 116 Wn.2d 831, 809 P.2d 190 (1991)
State V. Nollie, 116 WII.20 651, 609 P.20 190 (1991)
Otata - Dana Caluadar 17 Min Ann. 2d 760, 487 B 3d
State v. Pena Salvador, 17 Wn. App. 2d 769, 487 P.3d.
923 (2021)
<u>State v. Sassen Van Elsloo</u> , 191 Wn.2d, 798, 425 P.3d
798 (2018)17, 22
FEDERAL CASES
Hughes v. United States, 258 F.3d 453 (6th Cir. 2001).25
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
Article 1, §22
WASHINGTON STATUTES
RCW 4.44.170
RCW 4.44.19020
COURT RULES
RAP 14.3(b)(1)
RAP 14.3(b)(2)
RAP 14.3(b)(3)
RAP 14.3(b)(4)17
OTHER AUTHORITIES
14 L. Orland & K. Tegland, Wash.Prac., Trial Practice §
202, at 332 (4th ed. 1986)21, 22
WPIC 1.0414

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington asks this court to review the decision designated in part II. The State was plaintiff in the trial court and respondent in the Court of Appeals.

### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals reversed the defendant's conviction by majority decision in an opinion, published in part pertinent to this petition, filed on August 21, 2023. Appendix A.

### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Do the protections of the Sixth Amendment or art. 1, §22 (amend. 10), guarantee a particular degree of obstinacy in each individual juror to hold-out in their individual view as to the guilt of a defendant against his or her fellow jurors' views, and if so, what is the constitutionally requisite degree of such obstinacy?

2. Assuming such a right is constitutionally guaranteed and that its absence may constitute actual bias, does a trial court abuse its discretion in not removing a juror because a *likelihood* of "actual bias" has been evidenced in equivocal statements of the juror that (1) she is not a "confrontational person" and there is a *possibility* she would not "fight really hard" to hold out against the view of all their fellow jurors; (2) she would view the defendant's failure to testify as a neutral factor, neither for nor against him; and (3) she has expressed no personal hardship in serving, but only concern for her fellow worker's workload due to her absence?

3. Assuming such a right is constitutionally guaranteed so that its absence may constitute actual bias, does "actual bias" arise *per se* such that a trial court abuses its discretion where it does not remove a juror who, during selection, issues equivocal statements to the effect that she is not a "confrontational person" and there

is a *possibility* she would not "fight really hard" to hold out against the view of all her fellow jurors such that she must be removed unless she make subsequent statements "committing" to holding out against her fellow jurors' opinions?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. VENIREPERSON 27'S JURY QUESTIONNAIRE, INDIVIDUALIZED QUESTIONING, AND DEFENSE MOTION TO EXCUSE FOR CAUSE

The defendant proceeded to trial on one count of first degree rape of a child. CP 78-79. A 60 member venire was sworn in and each member provided a questionnaire with instruction to write out their responses under oath. RP 22-34; Brief of Appellant (BOA) at App. 008. After reading the responses, the parties were to identify several venire-persons for individual questioning outside the presence of other jurors. RP 120-23.

Venireperson 27 (VP27) prepared written responses, and after reviewing them, neither party

requested she be subjected to individualized questioning. RP 120-24; 247. Indeed, VP27's responses contained unambiguous assertions she would serve as a fair and impartial juror despite the subject matter of the case. BOA at App. 008, Questions 6 and 9. The court, however, decided to bring her in given a written response to a hardship question. RP 120-24; 247.

Later, when questioned on this point by the court, VP27 clarified that the hardship was not hers, but that of her fellow employees, and that she would be "fine":

[VP27]: I work in a small bakery. There is six of us in the whole area, so when I am gone potentially up to two weeks, that is a lot of work that has to be covered, and like, we didn't prepare for it to be that long. I thought it would be about a week, so I thought I would advocate for my coworkers and let you know it is a hardship for my job.

THE COURT: I am sure your coworkers appreciate that. Is there anything else?

[VP27]: I don't get jury pay, but I don't think most people do, so there is also something I -- but I -- I will be fine.

RP 247.

The prosecutor followed up:

[PROS.]: Do you think this is a situation that would distract you substantially if you were a juror you would be stressing about this?

[VP 27]: Probably not, although I will probably work all weekend, but I don't know.

[PROS.]: And you referenced something about -- in your questionnaire something about, I am reading this there would be the rest my vacation pay for the whole year. Can you explain that?

[VP27]: So I just -- after I've worked there for many years, I finally got three weeks of vacation pay for the year starting right around now, so until the next -- like, end of July, I have three weeks, and I would use that, or I wouldn't get any pay at all. So I either would be, you know, either not have vacation, or I would have unpaid vacation, which would mean I would have less finances to cover it.

[PROS.]: But at this point you don't have a vacation planned with tickets bought?

[VP27]: Just for that one week or -so maybe one day, but that would be it. RP 248-49.

The prosecutor thereafter directed VP27's attention to a questionnaire response in which she indicated that a person to whom she was close had been a victim of sexual violence and asked her if she was uncomfortable talking about that in front of her fellow jurors. RP 249. VP27 responded, "I am not really concerned about it, like, no." <u>Id.</u> After a further question as to whether she could remain fair and impartial despite what had happened, she responded, "I will try my best. I think so." RP 249-50.

The defense, for its part, followed up by asking VP27 about how she might *potentially* be affected. RP 250. She indicated it may be hard to focus on evidence when a child was the alleged victim. RP 250. Counsel then asked if she could maintain the presumption of innocence despite a potential bias for a child. VP27 stated she would remain on guard against any bias. RP 250. Counsel then asked her if she was worried she

would be unable to do so. VP27 indicated she was not worried, stating, "I think I can." <u>Id.</u> Defense thereafter asked if she could be "*sure*" that factor would not her presumption of innocence. She indicated she *was sure* she could presume the defendant innocent:

[DEFENSE]: ... So this is one of those instances we need to be sure, so are you – are your sure it wouldn't affect your ability to presume the Defendant [innocent]?

[VP27]: Yeah.

RP 250-51

Defense thereafter asked her whether any work concerns might make her just agree with her fellow jurors to reach a quick conclusion. VP27's response indicated she was not a confrontational person and there was thus

a possibility:

[DEFENSE]: And then my only other question is, so if you were told that your -- you are on the jury and that the verdict has to be unanimous, and let's say you are the only person who disagrees with the rest of the group, everybody else is going guilty or not guilty, would you be tempted in order to finish deliberations so you could get back to work to change your vote to whatever the rest of the group thinks, even if you personally didn't feel that way?

[VP 27]: If I was a 100 percent very confident, then no. But if I was, like, I believe this evidence, or whatever, but I am kind of, like, on the fence, then I may agree with everyone.

[DEFENSE]: Okay. Is that just something that you would do no matter what, or would that be related to you trying to get back to work?

[VP 27]: Probably both or -- yeah. I mean, I am not a confrontational person. I don't think I would, like, fight really hard if I, like, was on the fence about it.

[DEFENSE]: Okay. Thank you. No further questions.

RP 251.

After VP27 left the courtroom, defense conceded there was no hardship issue but challenged VP27 for cause on the grounds that her final statement that she might just "go with the rest of group" mandated her removal. RP 252. The court deferred its decision, allowing the defense the opportunity, if it chose, to further question her on this point the following day. RP 252. The defense elected not to conduct any further inquiry the next day.

The court denied the challenge for cause, holding VP27's pronouncement that she was not a confrontational person and that there was thus a *possibility* that she would accede to the views of her fellow jurors was not a sufficient basis:

THE COURT: ... That juror -- the longer I rereviewed my notes, this is the juror who works for a bakery. She made plans to be involved with jury service this week. She indicated that she will likely work extra hours over the weekend. Her hardship is not identified as a financial hardship. She stated she was advocating for her coworkers, and I think the Defense's motion was based upon her response to a question about whether she **might**, you know, compromise her view of the case in order to reach a verdict, and she responded she **might**, but that is because of her personality, not because of work. She indicated if she felt strongly about the case,

she would not compromise, but she indicated that if she felt something else than that, **she might**. She talked about not being -- I didn't write down her specific words, but she didn't have a strong personality.

[DEFENSE]: Not being very confrontational.

THE COURT: I don't find that to be a basis to excuse her for cause or for hardship.

[DEFENSE]: Your Honor, I will make a brief record to that effect. If -- if she is willing to just go along with the group of guilty when she doesn't really think the case is going to be beyond a reasonable doubt was my determination of what she said, just because she is not a confrontational person, I think that is a basis to excuse for cause.

THE COURT: I hear you, Mr. Wagner, but she is an individual who has not yet heard any evidence. She made it clear if she felt strongly about the evidence, I think the word she used 100 percent. There are many people who enter jury service without experience that is, you know, necessarily relevant that this sort of significant responsibility that we placed upon members of our community, and when a juror says candidly I am not a confrontational person, I could see myself in a situation where I might not be the leader on the jury, but I **might** go along with other people.

I think that is relevant. I think it is pertinent for

attorneys to ask questions about that, but if the qualification to serve as a juror was characterized as one where every person must commit to never change their mind, never compromise about an initial viewpoint they have on evidence based upon further reflection of what you have, that would place a burden upon the jury selection process that the law does not recognize. People can change their minds for many reasons. Some of them may not be good reasons, but some of them may be, and a juror who has responded as she has is not in this Court's estimation anything that would warrant excusing her for cause.

[DEFENSE]: Your Honor, what I heard her is said she **would** change her vote to go along with the group when her mind was not changed.

THE COURT: [Counsel], we both heard what she had to say. You have made your motion. I have denied it.

RP 329-31 (emphasis added).

# B. GROUP QUESTIONING, INTERACTION WITH VP27, AND NO ADDITIONAL CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE.

The members of the venire that remained were divided into three separate clusters so as to reduce COVID-based concerns as to large numbers of people in confined spaces. RP 331, 374-418. Each cluster underwent its own group voir dire in the courtroom. During questioning of VP27's cluster, defense counsel asked the group how it might affect them if the defendant did not testify at trial. RP 389-91. One juror indicated it "might not look good in [the defendant's] favor." RP 391. Defense then asked if anyone else shared this sentiment. Several, including VP27, raised their hands. RP 392. VP27 was questioned on this point and stated that she not testifying made it seem "[I]ike, slightly more likely" he was guilty. RP 392.

At this, the trial court interceded and informed the group that the defendant had a *right* not to testify and that his failure to testify could not be used against him in any way. RP 392-93. Defense then returned to VP27:

[DEFENSE]. ... . So, Juror No. 27, would the judge instructing you in that, is that going to change your mind on that position?

[VP27]: Yeah, I didn't know that before. So that **would put it at neutral**, like him not testifying would not make me think he is more guilty if you - - if he had testified, but since he doesn't testify, it is neutral[. I]s that how I am supposed to look at it?<sup>1</sup>

[DEFENSE]: As part of jury selection we don't want to find out what you're supposed to do. We want to find out where you are right now to see how you respond to the instructions to the Court. But thank you, Juror 27

RP 393 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The punctuation as bracketed is not that used of the transcript, but reflects, as is apparent from the context, that VP27 responded that she was able to put the lack of testifying aside if she was so instructed (that she was able to consider whether or not the defendant testified as "neutral"), then followed this affirmative response with a question to confirm if so treating it as neutral was correct: "Is that how I am supposed to look at it?"

That this is a confirming question is apparent from defense counsel's non-response immediately thereafter in which he indicated that during jury questioning, the point was not to instruct potential jurors how they would be required to act once they served, but rather to draw out their predispositions so the parties and the court could evaluate whether they would be able to follow the

At the conclusion of cluster's examination, the defendant challenged two jurors for cause, but not VP27. RP 413. The court thereafter indicated it would take more challenges later. RP 413. After voir dire of the last cluster, the Court asked the parties for their challenges. RP 452. Defense, again, raised no additional challenge against VP27. RP 452-58. Neither party exercised a peremptory challenge against VP27. RP 467-72. She was sworn in and served as trial juror no. 11. CP 210, 223.

## C. JURY INSTRUCTION, JURY VERDICT, AND POLLING OF VP27 AS TO HER INDIVIDUAL VERDICT

After evidence was presented, the court instructed the jury on their duty to deliberate with each other to reach a unanimous verdict, consistent with WPIC 1.04. CP 75. After instruction, the jury deliberated and ultimately found the defendant guilty as charged. CP 61,

instructions they would receive later if they were sworn in. RP 393.

78. The jury was then polled. RP 770. Trial juror No. 11 (VP27) confirmed this was her personal, individual verdict as well as the jury's verdict as a whole. RP 772.

### D. APPEAL AND PUBLISHED DECISION

In a divided opinion, the Court of Appeals majority issued a published opinion reversing the defendant's conviction. The majority held that the transcript revealed VP27 was "actually biased" and that the trial court had abused its discretion by failing to carry out its independent duty to remove her. Slip. Op. at 3. The evidence of VP27's actual bias was found primarily in her statements that she was not a confrontational person and might "go along" with her fellow jurors. The majority stated this "contradicts the unequivocal instructions on the law" and constituted an "inability to commit to the presumption of innocence." Slip Op. at 9. This inability to commit was further evidenced in her later statement that, "So that would put it at neutral." [Emphasis in opinion.] Slip Op. at

9. The hazard in these exchanges was particularly pronounced for the majority given her "initial reluctance to work and financial concerns as demonstrated by her request for a hardship dismissal." Slip Op. at 14.

The dissenting opinion argued that the majority had incorrectly found equivocal statements of VP27 to be unequivocal statements of bias, not comparable to statements examined in State v. Gonzales, 111 Wn. App. 276, 45 P.3d 205 (2022) and State v. Irby, 187 Wn. App. 183. 347 P.3d 1103 (2015), and in so doing, had employed the wrong non-deferential standard of review The correct standard for equivocal found therein. statements was found in State v. Noltie, 116 Wn.2d 831, 809 P.2d 190 (1991), a case mandating deference to the trial court's determination, a principle recently affirmed by the appellate court in State v. Pena Salvador, 17 Wn. App. 2d 769, 487 P.3d. 923 (2021). Slip Op., Dissent, at 1-9. The dissent found this was not even a close call.

The dissent held the statements in question were actually *"significantly more equivocal* than those in <u>Noltie</u> and <u>Pena Salvador</u>." Slip Op. Dissent at 3 (emphasis added).

### V. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. This Court should grant review under RAP 14.3(b)(3) and (4) as this case involves both a significant constitutional question and an issue of substantial public interest in the novel question of whether (and if so, what is the requisite degree to which) a juror must obstinately hold-out against the contrary view of his or her fellow jurors is a right protected under the guarantees of the Sixth Amendment, art. 1, §22 (amend. 10), or RCW 4.44.170.

2. This Court should grant review under RAP 14.3(b)(1) as the majority's published decision conflicts with the Supreme Court decisions of <u>State v. Noltie</u>, 116 Wn.2d 831, 809 P.2d 190 (1991) and <u>Sassen Van Elsloo</u>, 191 Wn.2d, 798, 808-09, 425 P.3d 798 (2018) in finding a

juror's equivocal statements of *possible* bias amounted to a *likelihood* of actual bias, and the trial court's failure to remove her thus a manifest abuse of its discretion.

3. This Court should grant review under RAP 14.3(b)(2) as the majority's published decision conflicts with the published Court of Appeals decisions in <u>State v</u>. <u>Gonzales</u>, 111 Wn. App. 276, 45 P.3d 205 (2022) and <u>State v. Irby</u>, 187 Wn. App. 183, 347 P.3d 1103 (2015) in holding they require a juror evidence "clear commitment" to upholding the presumption of innocence after statements reflecting only a possibility of bias have been pronounced.

### VI. ARGUMENT

### A. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT MANIFESTLY ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN FAILING TO REMOVE VP27 IN LIGHT OF HER ACTUAL STATEMENTS.

Washington jurisprudence has not previously examined the basis of a criminal defendant's right to twelve jurors who will individually hold out in their opinion against the opinion of their fellow jurors, and if so, what is the requisite quantum of juror obstinacy. To the extent Washington law has touched upon the issue, it has been with a practical consideration of human nature and the reflection that normal jury deliberation will entail lessconfrontational individuals giving way in the jury room:

We have little actual knowledge of what takes place within the jury room, but it is not going too far, we think, to say that frequently the strong characters dominate the weaker ones and to open the door to testimony showing such practices would be to imperil every verdict hereafter rendered and make jury trials most uncertain in their results.

<u>Hamilton v. Snyder</u>, 182 Wn. 688, 690, 48 P.2d 245 (1935).

What is settled, however, is that to uphold a defendant's right to a fair and impartial jury under the Sixth Amendment and art. 1, §22 (amend. 10), a trial court has a duty to ensure that no one who has "actual bias" serves as a juror. Actual bias is:

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