FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/18/2023 4:30 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 102402-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NATHAN SMITH, Respondent,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

ANSWER TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATE R. HUBER Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711
katehuber@washapp.org
waapofficemail@washapp.org

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

The opinion applied *Noltie*'s "probability of actual bias" requirement and afforded the trial court the appropriate

³ The State argues the opinion conflicts with *Noltie* and *State v. Sassen Van Elsloo*, 191 Wn.2d 798, 425 P.3d 807 (2018). However, all of these State's references to *Sassen Van Elsloo* are repeating quotes from *Noltie*.

deference. But it refused to treat *Noltie* as mandating deference to a degree that nullifies appellate review. Slip op. at 13 ("[W]hile we agree that our standard of review is deferential to the trial judge, we will not accept the dissent's invitation to apply this deference as 'a rubber stamp." (quoting *State v*. *Gonzales*, 111 Wn. App. 276, 281, 45 P.3d 205 (2002)). This does not establish a conflict.

Similarly, the opinion does not conflict with *Gonzales* or *State v. Irby*, 187 Wn. App. 183, 347 P.3d 1103 (2015). PFR at 18, 23-27. Importantly, the State fails to mention that *Irby* addressed a trial court's independent duty to excuse a juror as biased in the absence of any motion from a party. *Irby*, 187 Wn. App. at 193. The State pretends the Court of Appeals faulted the trial court for not independently recognizing Juror 27's bias and sua sponte dismissing her. PFR at 15.

Although RCW 2.36.110 imposes on the trial court a duty to excuse unfit jurors, this case does not involve the trial court's duties to independently intervene, as in *Irby*. The Court

of Appeals recognized that Mr. Smith moved to strike Juror 27 for cause and held that the trial court erred in denying the strike because her answers demonstrated a probability of actual bias under RCW 4.44.170(2). Slip op at 2, 4-5, 13.

Moreover, like the statements in *Gonzales* and *Irby*, Juror 27's statements here reflected a likelihood of actual bias when "her full statements, not just certain words from separate sentences" are viewed "in the context they were given." Slip op. at 11. Juror 27's statements show her admitted susceptibility to adopting other jurors' opinions even if she was inclined to vote differently. She said she would hold steadfast in her beliefs and not change her vote despite it being different than other jurors only if she were "100 percent confident." Slip op. at 7-8, 11-12. But if she was not "100 percent confident" or she was "on the fence," she recognized she was likely to follow the opinions of others.

Rather than conflict with prior caselaw, the Court of

Appeals simply applied these cases' enduring principles to the

particular facts of Mr. Smith's case. It properly recognized that Juror 27 did not present equivocation or the mere possibility of bias but rather the probability of bias. Slip op. at 3-4. The court carefully reviewed the record and accurately concluded "juror 27 repeatedly demonstrated a probability that she could not apply the presumption of innocence or follow the court's instructions." Slip op. at 13. The Court of Appeals properly held "juror 27's statements collectively ... reflect[] a probability of actual bias." Slip op. at 12. The opinion applies the appropriate standard of a probability of actual bias, not a mere possibility of bias, contrary to the State's argument.

The Court of Appeals properly concluded Juror 27's answer demonstrated she could not hold the State to its burden of proof. Slip op. at 8-13. Juror 27 stated she would only maintain her belief and not change her vote to go along with the group "[i]f [she] was 100 percent confident." Slip op. at 11 (quoting RP 251). As the opinion recognized, "In contrast, if she 'was like, I believe this evidence, or whatever, but I am

kind of like, on the fence, then I may agree with everyone." Slip op. at 12 (quoting RP 251).

As the Court of Appeals rightly explained:

[B]eing "on the fence" directly implicates proof beyond a reasonable doubt—if a juror is on the fence, the State has necessarily failed to satisfy its burden to prove the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. Simply "agree[ing] with everyone" when "on the fence," meaning that the State has failed to meet its burden, contradicts the unequivocal instructions on the law and the deliberation process. This was a clear statement that juror 27 either did not understand her obligations under the law or was unable to follow them; possible both.

Slip op. at 8 (footnote omitted).

The Court of Appeals also properly concluded Juror 27's answers showed she could not follow the presumption of innocence. Juror 27 expressed initial misgivings when she said, ""[I]nnocent until proven guilty. It is just hard when it is a child." Slip op. at 6 (quoting RP 250). She said, "I think I can" presume innocence and agreed to "try my best." Slip op. at 6-7 (quoting RP 250).

But when questioned further, Juror 27 agreed that if Mr. Smith did not testify, it would "'point in favor of guilty"" because she believed an innocent person would "'want to go up and tell your story about what happened." Slip op. at 7 (quoting RP 392). Even when the court interjected to explain the constitutional right not to testify, Juror 27 maintained her position. RP 392-93. She asked, "[I]t is neutral is that how I am supposed to look at it?" RP 393. She stated, "So that would put it at neutral, like him not testifying would not make me think he is more guilty." Slip op. at 8 (quoting RP 393).

As the Court of Appeals adeptly stated, "There is nothing neutral about the presumption of innocence." Slip op. at 10. Considering Juror 27's statements as a whole, the opinion properly concluded Juror 27 could not commit to follow the presumption of innocence, and "Even after correction from the trial court, juror 27 did not understand her duty as a juror and demonstrated an inability to serve as the law requires." Slip op. at 10.

The Court of Appeals applied the law to Juror 27's "full statements, not just certain words from separate sentences, in the context they were given." Slip op. at 11. The State, however, isolates Juror 27's different responses and parses individual words within her answers. PFR at 27-29. It is only by fracturing her answers and plucking words out of context that the State is able to construct a theory of review.

c. This Court's review is not warranted because the Court of Appeals correctly applied well-settled law to the facts of Mr. Smith's case.

The Court of Appeals decision adheres to soundly grounded precedent. The Court of Appeals did not announce any new rule or create a new constitutional right. It simply applied longstanding, well-settled law to the particular facts of Mr. Smith's case. This Court should deny review.

2. If this Court grants the State's petition for review, it should also review Mr. Smith's challenges to the *Petrich* instruction, which the trial court erroneously delivered against the wishes of both parties, and the to-convict instruction because the instructions unconstitutionally commented on the evidence.

Before trial, the prosecution proposed jury instructions that included a *Petrich* instruction because it "was not clear" if Hayden would testify the incident occurred on more than one date. RP 708; CP 204. However, after the presentation of the evidence, the State withdrew its request for a *Petrich* instruction. RP 708-09. The prosecutor explained the evidence "made it clear this was something occurring on one date." RP 708.

In addition to not being warranted based on the evidence, the prosecution opposed a *Petrich* instruction because:

I also am worried it could cause confusion to the jury if [the] only actual testimony about this at trial indicated this is something that occurred on one date. And certainly the State's arguments to the jury in closing would be arguing for the existence of this occurring on one date, rather than multiple dates.

RP 709. Therefore, the prosecution withdrew the request for the multiple acts instruction. Mr. Smith objected to a *Petrich* instruction as well. RP 709-10.

Although neither side requested the instruction and Mr. Smith objected to it, the court nevertheless delivered a *Petrich* instruction. CP 74 (No. 9). The court found it "prudent" to give the instruction in case the jurors believed the dates or number of times the acts occurred was "not consistent." RP 716. Mr. Smith maintained his objection. RP 709, 715-16, 725-26.

The court also changed the language of the first element of the to-convict instruction after the parties reviewed it. RP 725-26; CP 71 (No. 6). Instead of stating the jury must find the crime occurred "from on or about March 1, 2018 to on or about August 31, 2018," the court told the jury it must find the crime occurred "on one or more date(s) from on or about March 1,

2018 to on or about November 26, 2018."⁴ *Compare* CP 201 (proposed to-convict), *with* CP 71 (to-convict given to jury).

If this Court grants review of the State's petition, it should also review Mr. Smith's challenge to these improper instructions. The court's *Petrich* instruction and additional language in the to-convict instruction presupposed Mr. Smith committed the offense more than once on multiple dates, contrary to the evidence at trial. The erroneous to-convict and improper *Petrich* instructions confused the evidence and constituted an impermissible comment on the evidence. The Court of Appeals opinion rejecting Mr. Smith's challenges conflicts with *Petrich* itself, as well as cases applying it, and violates the constitutional prohibition against judicial comments on the evidence, meriting this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-**(4)**.

⁴ The date range changed after the prosecution filed an amended information to conform to the evidence presented at trial. CP 78, 190; RP 701.

The prosecution charged Mr. Smith with a single count of child rape. CP 78. It presented evidence of a single occurrence of child rape, occurring on a single day during a period when the prosecution alleged Mr. Smith was babysitting Hayden. RP 548-50, 574, 597-98. The evidence at trial "made it clear this was something occurring on one date" as part of "one course of conduct." RP 708 (quoting trial prosecutor).

The prosecution withdrew its preliminary request for a *Petrich* instruction because the evidence "made it clear this was something occurring on one date." RP 708-09. The prosecution opposed the instruction because the "only actual testimony about this at trial indicated this is something that occurred on one date," and it was worried including a *Petrich* instruction would "cause confusion to the jury." RP 709. The prosecution also committed to arguing "for the existence of this occurring on one date, rather than multiple dates." RP 709. Mr. Smith objected to the instruction for these same reasons. RP 709-10, 715-16, 725-26.

Despite the absence of evidence or argument of multiple acts on multiple dates, and over Mr. Smith's objection, the court instructed the jury: "The State alleges that the defendant committed acts of first degree rape of a child *on multiple occasions*." CP 74 (emphasis added). It also told the jury it need not be unanimous on "all the acts," even though the evidence did not support multiple acts occurring on multiple dates. CP 74. The court also altered the to-convict instruction to inform the jurors the allegations concerned "one or more date(s)," again contrary to the evidence and the prosecution's argument. CP 71.

A *Petrich* instruction does not apply to instances involving continuing acts or a continuing course of conduct.

State v. Handran, 113 Wn.2d 11, 17, 775 P.2d 453 (1989).

Repeated sexual acts occurring within a brief period of time in the same location with the same victim are "plainly a continuing course of conduct," and a unanimity instruction is not appropriate. State v. Lee, 12 Wn. App. 2d 378, 397, 460

P.3d 701 (2020). As the trial prosecution argued, and the evidence clearly established at trial, the allegations all occurred during a single incident during a short time span on one day, which made them a continuing course of conduct.

Hayden testified Mr. Smith assaulted him on a single day during a period of time when his mother and sister went to the store. RP 548-50. His mother testified Hayden told her the incident happened while she and her daughter were at the store, supporting Hayden's testimony of a single incident. RP 574, 597-98. All the evidence established a single incident on a single date, not multiple instances on multiple dates.

The prosecution also clearly informed the jury it was relying on a single occurrence. RP 708-09, 729-31, 755-56. In rebuttal, the prosecution highlighted Hayden's consistency in claiming this happened on only a single day. RP 755-56. "Hayden has not been inconsistent or ever suggested this happened on multiple days. He suggested it happened on multiple times." RP 756 (emphasis added). "He told us here in

trial this is something that happened multiple times, *but on one* day." RP 756 (emphasis added). Thus, consistent with the evidence and its closing argument, in rebuttal the prosecution reaffirmed this was a single continuing act and its election that this occurred in a single incident on one day. It also emphasized that Hayden had always claimed it occurred in a single incident.

The court erred in giving a *Petrich* instruction over Ms.

Smith's objections and against the prosecution's wishes. The *Petrich* instruction and the erroneous to-conviction instruction telling the jury the State alleged the offense occurred on multiple occasions and on multiple dates constituted an impermissible comment on the evidence, created confusion for the jury, and improperly addressed factual issues.

The Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Smith's challenge to the *Petrich* instruction by circularly reasoning that multiple distinct acts require *Petrich* instruction to preserve jury unanimity. Slip op. at 14-18. This misses the gravamen of Mr.

Smith's argument—the State did *not* accuse Mr. Smith of multiple distinct acts on multiple different dates nor did the evidence demonstrate multiple distinct acts on multiple different dates. The evidence was clear—and the State argued—the incident occurred on a single date as part of a continuing course of conduct. To give the *Petrich* instruction without evidence of multiple distinct acts on multiple different dates and in the face of a clear election conflicts with the reasoning of *Petrich* and this Court's cases applying it. *See State v. Carson*, 184 Wn.2d 207, 219, 357 P.3d 1064 (2015) (objecting to Petrich instruction not deficient performance because instruction did not apply to facts of case).

The opinion also rejected Mr. Smith's challenge to the court's sua sponte change to the to-convict instruction. Slip op. at 18-19. It did so by narrowly construing comments on the evidence as pertaining to only the definitive resolution of a factual dispute. Slip op. at 19. But the interpretation of the evidence and determination of if, when, and how the sexual act

occurred were ultimately issues of fact for the jury to decide. The court's instructions telling the jury that the prosecution alleged Mr. Smith committed the acts of rape "on multiple occasions" and "on one or more date(s)" told the jury how to interpret the evidence against Mr. Smith. CP 71, 74. It settled a fact that was for the jury to decide. The instructions also suggested to the jury evidence of additional misconduct, occurring on more than one date, existed that they did not hear.

Where an instruction "had the effect of focusing the attention of the jury" on a particular issue, the instruction is an impermissible comment on the evidence. *In re Det. of R.W.*, 98 Wn. App. 140, 143, 988 P.2d 1034 (1999); *see also State v. Koontz*, 145 Wn.2d 650, 657, 41 P.3d 475 (2002) (courts must apply protections against undue emphasis of certain evidence). That is what occurred here.

The evidence did not support the altered to-convict and *Petrich* instructions. No one requested these instructions, and Mr. Smith objected to the *Petrich* instruction. The unwarranted instructions created confusion for the jury, emphasized a particular issue, and suggested to the jury evidence of additional misconduct, occurring on more than one date, existed that they did not hear. The court should have adopted the prosecution's narrowing of its evidence and respected, not undermined, the evidence presented and the prosecution's clear election. If the Court grants the State's petition, it should accept review of the erroneous *Petrich* and to-convict instructions as well.

G. CONCLUSION

The State's petition meets none of the criteria under RAP 13.4(b). This Court should deny review.

In compliance with RAP 18.17(b), counsel certifies the word processing software calculates the number of words in this document, exclusive of words exempted by the rule, as 4,712 words.